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obligation to the Germans.457  The London Times Weekly article made it plain to British 

civilians that it was in Britain’s best interest to furnish the enemy.  

The British delegation finally took notice.  After reading these documents it was 

the opinion of Henry Wilson, the Chief of the Imperial General Staff (C.I.G.S.), that the 

post-Armistice blockade “seems to me barbarous [because] we have no right to go on 

starving the great mass of German women and children.”  As Lloyd George’s top military 

advisor at Versailles, he understood the desire to see Germany brought to justice, but was 

not willing to achieve peace at the cost of human decency.  “I am not prepared personally 

to make myself responsible for defending the continuance of this system indefinitely,” he 

persuasively argued in a memorandum to King George V and the British War Cabinet 

after reading the full and, at the time, unpublished version of Roddie’s report.  “Things 

must be brought to a head, and either the war must be resumed, or conditions of peace 

must be reached which are satisfactory for us and give the German people some chance 

of life and work.”458   

The fear of Germany plunging into a civil war like Bolshevik Russia was reason 

enough for Hoover and Vance McCormick, Chairman of the American Commission to 

Negotiate Peace, to advocate relaxing trade restrictions on Germany as early as 

December 1918.459  Yet they would have to wait for the British to come to this realization 

on their own.  Ultimately, it took four months and the release of multiple army 

intelligence reports to reveal that the post-Armistice blockade was an impediment to 

peace.  General Wilson’s memorandum was more than just an acknowledgement of this 

                                                        
457 Vincent, 103.    
458 ‘Memorandum from Henry Wilson to the King and War Cabinet re: Germany – Raising the 

Blockade in Certain Eventualities,’ 20 February 1919, TNA, WO 32/5382.  
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fact; it also put forth a compelling argument to lift the naval blockade based on 

humanitarian considerations.  

Within two days of the public release of the War Office files, Lord Robert Cecil, 

in consultation with Hoover and McCormick, organized the Spa Conference for 4 March 

1919.  The conference began with an opening statement from Admiral George Hope, 

whom the Germans regarded as a formidable negotiator at the initial Armistice talks at 

Compiègne and, later, at the renewal of the Armistice terms at Trèves in January and 

February 1919.460  He took the opportunity to warn the German delegation that no food 

would enter German ports without the government first handing over all cargo and 

passenger ships to the Allies.   

Admiral Hope, in effect, demanded the use of the entire German merchant fleet 

for the purpose of transporting American foodstuffs to German ports.  The Allies were 

prepared to give 270,000 tons of foodstuffs to the Germans.  The country could also 

import an additional 100,000 tons of grain from Argentina.  The German delegation 

expressed a willingness to relinquish the merchant fleet, but with the proviso that the 

Allies agree to provision Germany until the next harvest.  The Germans, after all, could 

not surrender the only leverage they had at the peace table.  Therefore, unless the Allies 

signed an agreement to provision Germany monthly, the delegates would simply have to 

agree to disagree.461   

If the Germans were not ready to “bargain ships for food,” why did busy Allied  

                                                        
460 ‘Renewal of the Armistice at Trèves, 16 February 1919,’ 18 February, TNA, ADM 1/8551/46; 

The Papers of Brockdorff-Rantzau TNA, GFM 33/3309.  
461 ‘Preliminary Report of Meetings held at Spa on 4th and 5th March 1919 between Delegates of 

the Associated Governments and Delegates of the German Government with Regard to the Financial, 

Shipping, and Food Supply Arrangements for Carrying out the Revictualment of Germany, Presented to the 

Supreme Economic Council at its Meeting of March 7, 1919,’ in Bane and Lutz, 190-191.  
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representatives continue to meet with them?462  The diary of Samuel Shartle, a member of 

the American delegation at Spa, provides a compelling answer.  On the evening of 4 

March, for example, he wrote: “Perhaps the League of Nations can cure Bolshevism, 

perhaps not.  While the League has been formulating, anarchy has spread – due to lack of 

food and lack of peace.  It is not an answer to say, let Germany suffer.  Not only 

Germany is involved… food won the war and food may win the peace – if the hungry 

had more food and less promises.”463  Shartle’s assessment of the German food situation 

closely mirrored that of Herbert Hoover.  Both men believed that a stable, prosperous, 

and well-fed Germany was a necessary bulwark against the spread of Bolshevism in 

Europe.   

Hoover and the American peace delegation took a practical approach to feeding 

Germany by arguing that the Allies needed to rethink their strategy to win the peace.  It 

was in the Allies’ best interest to break with the recommendation of press baron Lord 

Northcliffe and discontinue “… a ruthless policy of commercial blockade.”464  

Northcliffe, of course, advocated continuing the blockade after the Armistice as a way to 

highlight the “economic predominance of the Allies… [by] accentuating German fears 

and hopes.”  This strategy was seen as an extension of Allied propaganda released by 

Crewe House in the final year of the war, when British intelligence revealed that the  

                                                        
462 British Foreign Secretary Arthur Balfour first used the phrase “bargaining ships for food” in a 

12 January 1919 meeting of the Supreme War Council.  See, Edward Frederick Willis, ‘Herbert Hoover 

and the Blockade of Germany, 1918-1919,’ in the Edward Frederick Willis Papers, Box 1, HIA, 22. 
463 Samuel G. Shartle, Spa, Versailles, and Munich: An Account of the Armistice Commission 

(Philadelphia: Dorrance and Company, 1941), 74. 
464 ‘Letter from Lord Northcliffe to Foreign Secretary Arthur Balfour, dated 10 June 1918,’ 

presented at the Economic Defence and Development Committee Meeting, 18 September 1918, TNA, 
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average German yearned for two things above all else: “peace and plenty.”465   

The Northcliffe plan was predicated on the assumption that the Allies could exert 

more control over Germany at the peace table by exploiting the fragility of its domestic 

situation.  Perhaps greater concessions could be extracted from the German delegation – 

higher reparations, German disarmament, and more territory – if they truly believed that 

“Germany might be excluded from a future economic bloc… [because] she is excluded 

from an existing bloc at the present moment… Having our club in our hands we should 

be absolved from the necessity of flourishing it in print.”466  Northcliffe regarded the 

post-Armistice blockade as a powerful weapon that could be used for great political and 

propagandistic effect at the peace table.   

This bold strategy first appealed to the Foreign Office and War Cabinet when it 

received Northcliffe’s memorandum in mid-1918, and was still touted by Allied 

Commander-in-Chief Ferdinand Foch in February 1919 as, “… the best and quickest 

means of securing respect for the Armistice convention.”467  Yet serious problems arose 

because the plan blithely treated the provisioning of Germany as a carrot that could be 

dangled in front of the enemy.  Although the conference failed to ratify an agreement that 

satisfied both the Allies and the Germans, British and American representatives left Spa 

more determined than ever to break the stalemate and lift the food blockade.    

The Supreme War Council’s Response 

British peace delegate and polemicist, John Maynard Keynes, viewed the deadlock at Spa  

                                                        
465 Northcliffe’s Memorandum to Balfour, ‘Report on the Work of the Department of Propaganda 

in Enemy Countries,’ 1918-1919, circulated by Lord Robert Cecil to the War Cabinet, 1 August 1918, 
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467 ‘Letter from Ferdinand Foch to the French Minister of Foreign Affairs re: Blockade of 
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as an opportunity to “bring matters to a head and attract the attention of the Great Ones  

[at Versailles].”  He suggested to Admiral Hope that the British representatives 

immediately break off food talks with the Germans “and order our trains to return to Paris 

that night [5 March]… so that when the Germans woke in the morning it would be to find 

us flitted.”  This highly “public rupture” was intended to send a message to the Big Four 

politicians – and, of course, the Germans – that global access to food was a necessary 

precondition of peace.468  Germany needed to relinquish its fleet and the Allies, in turn, 

needed to facilitate the provisioning of Germany before any more time elapsed.  

 Having read in the press of Britain’s “dramatic adjournment” at Spa, Lloyd 

George summoned Hoover, Cecil, and British Second Army Commander Herbert Plumer 

to his office in Paris on 7 March 1919.469  The Supreme War Council was set to meet the 

following day at the French Foreign Ministry and the British prime minister wanted 

answers.  He talked first with Plumer to see if the food conditions in Germany were as 

dire as the army intelligence reports suggested.  The general was not one to mince words.  

Hoover vividly recounts the exchange between Plumer and Lloyd George in his 

multivolume work on famine relief published in the last years of his life.  As the Allied 

Food Administrator tells it, the general impressed upon the prime minister that food 

supplies were so scarce that “[everywhere] hordes of skinny and bloated children were 

pawing over the offal of British cantonments.”470   

Plumer feared for the wellbeing of the occupied civilian population, as lack of  

food and Bolshevik uprisings tested the Germans’ resolve on a daily basis.  He feared  

                                                        
468 John Maynard Keynes, Two Memoirs: Dr. Melchior; A Defeated Enemy and My Early Beliefs 

(London: Rupert Hart-Davis, 1949), 56.  See also, Cline, 43-44; R. B. McCallum, Public Opinion and the 

Last Peace (New York: Oxford University Press, 1944). 
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also for the wellbeing of his troops, who were torn between serving their King and 

country and saving innocent people from suffering and starvation.  Plumer’s main 

argument to Lloyd George was that his soldiers should not have to decide which path to 

follow; feeding the Germans and patrolling the Rhineland were not mutually exclusive 

because the reconstruction of Germany depended on both developments occurring 

simultaneously.471 

Hoover was in complete agreement with Plumer that the post-Armistice blockade 

was now “a constant plague to relief and reconstruction [efforts].”472  The clock was 

ticking to transport American foodstuffs to European shores and any delay in the process 

only risked more illness, unnecessary death, and political turmoil for Europeans.  The 

reality was that there were more mouths to feed than shipments of food available, which 

explains why Hoover encouraged the Allies to relax the naval blockade on Germany as 

soon as possible.473  Permitting the Germans access to food was not just a humanitarian 

decision; it was the most prudent course of action because it would have allowed the 

Allies to focus solely on crafting the Versailles settlement.   

The role of food – both Germany’s access to it and the Allies’ control of it – took 

on more importance than it otherwise should have during the negotiation process.  The 

Germans were desperate for supplies and thus highly motivated to cast off the burden of 

economic sanctions, but the delegation was reluctant to give up the nation’s merchant 

fleet in the event the negotiations continued into 1920.  The German delegates stubbornly 
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believed that possession of Germany’s merchant fleet was an insurance policy if the 

peace talks stalled and the country needed to venture into blockaded waters in order to 

feed the beleaguered masses.  As the German Secretary of State Matthias Erzberger 

noted, “… deliveries [of food] have been postponed again and again, and we are going 

hungry.  If the Entente wishes to destroy us, it should not at least expect us to dig our 

own graves.”474  The Allies, meanwhile, regarded the naval blockade as an insurance 

policy in the event that hawkish elements in the German government decided to resume 

the war or refuse to sign the peace treaty.475  Either way, both decisions were motivated 

by a desire to control the flow of foodstuffs into Germany as a way of leveraging the 

peace.  But recklessly gambling on the power of the blockade only hindered the peace 

talks and bred unnecessary distrust between Germany and the Allies and even among the 

Allies themselves.   

Hoover informed Lloyd George “that, with the exception of Lord Cecil’s 

assistance, [he] had received little cooperation since his arrival in Europe.”476  He was 

stymied at every turn by the obstructionist tactics of the French, who brokered a side deal 

to sell rotten fish to the Germans in February 1919 and repeatedly stalled American relief 

efforts by clinging to the vague wording of Article XXVI of the Armistice agreement.477  

He was equally dismayed at Britain’s extraordinary lack of foresight in continuing to 

blockade Germany after the Armistice.  Hoover reminded the prime minister that the 

Allies blockaded Austria-Hungary, Turkey, and Bulgaria throughout the war, yet the bulk 

of trade restrictions were lifted once each country signed a ceasefire agreement with the 
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Allies in the autumn of 1918.478  What made the German case so radically different?  

Should the country not be regarded in the same way as its wartime allies?  Combat had 

ended five months earlier and Allied politicians were still debating the merits of feeding 

Germany.  At this rate, if the French had their way, another five months would elapse and 

there would still be no consensus on how to proceed.   

Hoover illustrated the point by highlighting the issue of German fishing rights.   

This was an issue of bitter contention for the Germans throughout 1919.479  The British 

Admiralty unilaterally extended the naval blockade into the Baltic Sea on 28 December 

1918.  This move severed Germany’s remaining supply chain with the Northern Neutrals 

and prohibited the country from even fishing for small amounts of food for domestic 

consumption.  The extension of the Allied blockade into the Baltic marked a line that 

Hoover was uncomfortable crossing in light of Germany’s well-publicized plight.  Both 

he and U.S. Admiral William S. Benson thought it was an entirely “stupid strategy made 

by admirals ignorant of food supply.”480  At this point in the discussion Lloyd George 

asked Hoover to deliver a similar speech to the Council the next day.  Hoover was taken 

aback at Lloyd George’s suggestion, as he was inclined to think that the prime minister, 

like Clemenceau and Foch before him, still regarded the post-Armistice blockade as an 

effective weapon to ensure peace.481  Startled and “delighted” by Lloyd George’s 
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reaction, Hoover ultimately agreed to attend the meeting but thought it “would carry 

much more weight if it came [directly] from him.”482   

 Shortly after 3:00 p.m. on Saturday, 8 March David Lloyd George addressed the 

Supreme War Council in the crowded office of the French Minister of Foreign Affairs.  

Fifty-nine council members attended the meeting, including the Japanese delegation, as 

well as the foreign ministers of the Big Four.  In addition to Hoover, Marshal Foch, John 

Maynard Keynes, Étienne Clémentel, the French Minister of Commerce and Industry, 

and Louis Klotz, the French Minister of Finance, were in attendance.483  The issue on 

everyone’s mind was the outcome of the food talks at Spa.  The abruptness of Britain’s 

departure hinted at yet another breakdown in the negotiations with Germany.  Lloyd 

George confirmed that the trip failed to yield better results for the Allies.  But what the 

Supreme War Council did not know was that Britain’s hasty exit was not conducted 

merely in a fit of pique.  It was designed to elicit a strong reaction from the Council – be 

it good or bad – to news of Germany’s plight.484   

The Council members listened attentively as the prime minister described the 

turmoil and despair witnessed by many Allied soldiers in Germany since the signing of 

the Armistice.  These publicized reports of widespread malnutrition and political 

instability clearly indicated that the problems associated with blockading the Germans far 

outweighed any short-term political gains.  The reason for this was very simple: 

  The honour of the Allies was involved… the Germans had accepted our  

armistice conditions, which were sufficiently severe, and they had complied  
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with the majority of those conditions.  But so far, not a single ton of food had 

been sent into Germany.  The fishing fleet had even been prevented from  

going out to catch a few herrings.  The Allies were on top now, but the  

memories of starvation might one day turn against them… These incidents 

constituted far more formidable weapons for use against the Allies than any  

of the armaments it was sought to limit.  The Allies were sowing hatred for  

the future: they were piling up agony, not for the Germans but for themselves.   

As long as the people were starving they would listen to the arguments of the 

Spartacists [Bolsheviks], and the Allies by their action were simply  

encouraging elements of disruption and anarchism.  It was like stirring up an  

influenza puddle, just next door to one’s self.485 

Lloyd George invoked the imagery of Bolshevism as a contagious disease that had  

infected Germany, as he had previously done in the War Cabinet.486   The aim was to 

appeal to the overwhelming sense of fear among Council members that political turmoil 

in key pockets of Eastern and Central Europe would spread to the rest of the Continent.   

Conditions in Germany mattered a great deal to neighbouring war-torn states like 

France and Italy.  Their proximity to the “disease” dictated as much.  But, as the British 

prime minister learned, not all Allied delegates believed that the German situation was so 

desperate as to warrant the removal of the naval blockade.  Clemenceau, for example, 

wondered why, “if the Germans were starving, as General Plumer and others said they 

were, did they continue to refuse to surrender their fleet?”  Could it be that “the Germans 
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were simply trying to blackmail the Allies[?]”487  His first reaction was that Germany’s 

refusal to hand over its merchant fleet indicated that their food supply was more than 

adequate.  Beggars, after all, cannot afford to be choosers under any circumstance.   

Besides, as the French Minister of Finance reminded him, there was the all-

important issue of money to consider.  It was one thing for the Allies to talk of 

provisioning Germany in broad terms, but it was quite another to agree to supply the 

enemy indefinitely with food transported and paid for by the Allies themselves.  

Clemenceau instead recommended that:  

the Germans should be made thoroughly to understand that the Allies allow  

no nonsense in regard to the minute observance of the terms of the Armistice. 

As soon as the Germans recognized this fact, [he] felt sure his colleagues,  

M. Loucheur [the French Minister of Industrial Reconstruction], M. Klotz,  

and M. Clémentel, who were ready to be guided by the feelings of humanity,  

would easily arrive at an agreement in regard to the supply of food to  

Germany, and the payment therefor.488        

From the French perspective there was a compelling case to be made that the Allies ought 

to move forward with the peace terms and worry about the reconstruction of Germany at 

a later date.   

Lloyd George, however, vehemently opposed the cavalier “wait and see” attitude 

of the French and took the opportunity to thoroughly dismiss Clemenceau’s reservations.  

Taking the floor once again, he noted: “General Plumer’s [report] disclosed a very 

serious state of affairs… [which] the [Peace] Conference did not wish to create sympathy 
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with Germany by a continuance of a system of starvation.” 489  Finally, he called on the 

French prime minister to “stop these obstructive tactics, otherwise M. Klotz would rank 

with Lenin and Trotzky [sic] among those who spread Bolshevism in Europe.”490  The 

room fell silent.  Clemenceau was rarely at a loss for words, but this was one of those 

occasions.  The meeting ended after two and a half hours with the French delegation 

utterly chastened and the British having gained the upper hand in the food talks with 

Germany.491  

Brussels Food Agreement and the Relaxation of the Blockade 

On 13 March 1919, representatives from the United States, Britain, France, Italy, and  

Belgium (including Hoover, Admiral Wemyss, and European unionist Jean Monnet) met 

with German diplomats in Brussels to discuss the ongoing food crisis.492  Lord Robert 

Cecil, as Minister of the Blockade, used the intervening six days between the dramatic 

events at the French Foreign Ministry and the opening session of the conference to devise 

a payment plan in order for the Germans to receive food.  Working closely with the 

Supreme Economic Council, he presented a solution to the delegates right as they 

departed for the Belgian capital.   

Gold, Cecil believed, would break the deadlock.  He informed the Allies that 

Germany had not converted its gold supply into currency since before the outbreak of the 
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war.  Therefore, while the value of the paper mark was steadily declining, the country’s 

gold reserves were still intact.  The Germans had begged the Allies at Spa to provision 

the country until the next harvest.  What they were essentially asking for was a six-month 

guaranteed food supply.  The Allies had been prepared to give a single shipment of 

270,000 tons of food and permit access to 100,000 tons of grain from Argentina.  Yet a 

thirty-day food supply was not nearly enough to eradicate hunger in Germany.  There 

was no way around it.  The Allies would need to provision the enemy at least until 1 

September 1919.  A loan of £200 million would adequately cover the cost and shipment 

of foodstuffs and, in turn, German gold would act as collateral for the loan.493       

 Admiral Wemyss presented this new financial arrangement to the Germans on 14  

March.  Reading the terms aloud, Wemyss informed the German representatives that the  

Allies would allow Germany to import up to 370,000 tons of food per month from any 

country.  Germany, of course, still had to pay for the food.  But now it could do so in the 

following ways: 

  (a) by exporting commodities to neutral countries  

  (b) via credit in neutral countries 

  (c) through the sale of foreign securities or properties  

  (d) using foreign securities or properties as collateral  

  (e) by the hire of ships  

  (f) through the sale of gold if all other methods failed and providing that  

     the Allies agreed to the terms of sale 494 

 

The signing of the Brussels accord marked a vital signpost in the overall relaxation of the 

naval blockade.  American delegate Samuel Shartle even went so far as to conclude, 

“…the wings of the French seem to be clipped.  They were when the English took charge 

at Brussels in the negotiations about food.  The results will have a good effect on order in 
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Germany.”495  Within two days the German government handed over its merchant fleet 

and the first of two instalments of £100 million in gold marks to the bank of a British 

consul in Rotterdam as per the agreement.  The Allies, in return, reinstated Germany’s 

fishing privileges in the Baltic and formally began to revictual the country on 19 March  

1919.496   

Realizing that some critics would still object to feeding the Germans before the 

Allies had even ratified the peace, Hoover released a pre-emptive bulletin worldwide on 1 

April 1919.  Entitled “Why We Are Feeding Germany,” the Allied Food Director wanted 

to categorically dispel any doubts in the minds of naysayers.  The future of Europe 

mattered more to Hoover than a show of force or small victory at the peace table.  He 

believed that access to food was a basic human necessity, not a political promise to be 

taken away or leveraged with the stroke of a pen:  

From the point of view of my Western up-bringing, I would say at once, 

because we do not kick a man in the stomach after we have licked him. 

From the point of view of an economist, I would say that it is because there  

are seventy millions of people who must either produce or die, [and] that their  

production is essential to the world’s future and that they cannot produce  

unless they are fed… no matter how deeply we feel at the present, our vision  

must stretch over the next hundred years and we must write now into history  

such acts as will stand creditably in the minds of our grandchildren.497              
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The efforts of the American Relief Administration aimed to breath new life into stagnant 

economies and facilitate the postwar reconstruction of Europe.  But the peacemakers 

needed first to step aside and allow the process to occur.  Hoover feared that the Allies 

were bypassing this crucial stage in the reconstruction of Germany in order to see justice 

served.    

 His suspicions were ultimately warranted.  The Brussels food agreement was the 

culmination of five months of constant prodding and warnings from Hoover and various 

intelligence officers detailing the famine conditions in Germany.  Five months of 

discussion as to whether to remove the blockade entirely or relax certain restrictions 

piecemeal could have been five months better spent revictualling the country in the first 

place.  By early April, the British were fully aware of this miscalculation.  Foreign 

Secretary Balfour even sent a telegram to Second Army Headquarters asking General 

Plumer to “preserve censorship” in the region over news of the partial relaxation of the 

blockade.  This was a last minute attempt to court the favour of the German people by 

reminding them that it was Britain – not just the United States – who provided them with 

food and an out-stretched hand when they were hungry: “Americans will claim that they 

have been responsible for this raising of the blockade and are likely to take full advantage 

of it in the Press. [But it is] desirable that H.M.G. should get equal benefit and that the 

German Press should be given [the] idea that concessions are mainly due to [the] policy 

of the British Government.”498   
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The task of convincing the Germans was left to the British Chief of the Armistice  

Commission, Richard Haking.  An often-maligned figure in the historiography of the 

First World War,499 General Haking agreed with Balfour that it was crucial for Britain to 

take credit as a “prime mover” in the relaxation of the food blockade.  He gained valuable 

insight after discussing the matter further with German delegates General Kurt von 

Hammerstein and Kurt von Lersner at the German Headquarters in Spa.  Hammerstein 

was especially quick to point out the extraordinary level of praise heaped on the 

Americans by the German press; they were continually portrayed as “saviours” of the 

German people.  Yet the attitude of the German press towards the British government 

was less clearly defined.  Britain was not seen as outwardly conniving, but it certainly 

was not viewed alongside Hoover and the American delegation as stalwartly 

internationalist and humanitarian.  But all of that could change, remarked the German 

delegates, if Britain were to remove the remaining trade restrictions and honour the 

Brussels agreement to provision the country until the autumn of 1919.500  It would have 

undoubtedly benefitted the Allies to foster goodwill and amity with a new German 

government that was both figuratively and literally indebted to it.  In the end, however, 

the peacemakers deemed it too risky to remove the blockade at this late stage in the peace 

negotiations.   

Both the diary of Vance McCormick (Chairman of the Superior Blockade  

Council) and the minutes of the Supreme Economic Council reveal that the Allies, in fact, 

formulated plans for the re-imposition of the blockade even after concluding the Brussels 

                                                        
499 Particularly for the high casualty rates sustained by the BEF’s XI Corp at Loos in September 
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November 1917 to March 1918. 
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agreement.  Spearheaded by the French economist Jacques Seydoux, the Big Four agreed 

in mid-May to revoke the Brussels accord and reintroduce all trade restrictions in the 

event that Germany refused to sign the preliminary peace terms.501  President Wilson 

later described these council meetings as a series of “struggles with Clemenceau and  

Lloyd George [in order] to hold them down to justice and reason.”502   

Indeed, Wilson’s first preference was for a military occupation of Germany, as he 

believed that the threat alone was enough to convince the Germans to sign the peace 

treaty.  What real harm would it have done to exert pressure that did not involve 

leveraging the promise of food?  When presented with this other option, Lloyd George 

dismissed the idea as a costly and time-consuming gamble, while Clemenceau argued 

that a military occupation was an insult to the Allied forces who legitimately won the 

war.503  Clemenceau, unlike Lloyd George, was less concerned with the overall financial 

cost in bringing Germany to justice.  The Big Four could not put a price tag on achieving 

the peace when honour and principle were at stake.  Convinced of his moral certitude, 

Clemenceau viewed the post-Armistice period as a Clauswitzian continuation of war by 

other means.  Why the Allies would ever consider dispensing with the blockade until the 

war was truly over was beyond him.  Speaking candidly to his Allied counterparts, he 

thought “it may be useful to remind the Germans of the fact that the blockade shall cease 

at the same moment as the state of war, and that what legally brings a state of war to an  
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end is the exchange of ratifications.”504   

Wilson, in his private correspondence with McCormick and Hoover, denounced 

this “survival of the fittest” mentality that motivated the French delegation.  He “felt 

great pity for them,”505 but was resigned to the fact that there was little use in 

discouraging their methods when the Allies were so close to ratifying the Treaty of 

Versailles.  Lloyd George felt much the same as Wilson.  The most pressing issue facing 

the peacemakers was to ensure that the hostilities did not resume.  Their next priority was 

to contain the spread of Bolshevism within Germany’s borders – steps were also being 

taken to combat the Bolsheviks in Russia – before it threatened the very fabric of  

European democracy.  It was essential to postwar stability that these issues were resolved 

as soon as possible.  Then, and only then, was it time to settle the score.   

The Allied and Associated Powers spent six months taking into consideration the 

new role of Germany in postwar Europe.  The peacemakers agreed that the country 

should be stripped of its overseas possessions in Africa and the Pacific (Article 119) and 

undergo a drastic reduction in its military and naval power (Article 160 and 181).506   

Article 231, the so-called “War Guilt clause,” blamed Germany and her allies for starting 

the war, while the reparations clause (Article 235) set the first sum of payments at 20 

billion gold marks to be paid in full by April 1921.507  As short-sighted and implacable as 

the treaty may seem, the peacemakers wanted to craft a system of checks and balances 

                                                        
504 Vincent, 115. See also, ‘Minutes of the Twenty-Eighth Meeting of the Superior Blockade 
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battleships, 6 light destroyers, 12 destroyers, and 12 torpedo boats.  See, The Treaty of Peace with Germany 
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507 Ibid., 34. 



 

186 

 

 

 

whereby Germany was held accountable for its reckless and continued aggression.  But 

did the peacemakers do the exact opposite in their haste to formalize a treaty?  According 

to many Allied participants in the peace negotiations, they certainly did.   

John Maynard Keynes’ indictment of the Treaty of Versailles as a “Carthaginian  

Peace” is the most obvious example.  Less quoted, but equally evocative of the interwar 

air of disillusionment with the peace settlement is South African general and Imperial 

War Cabinet member, Jan Smuts, and his remark to Lloyd George that “such a chance 

comes but once in a whole era of history – and we missed it.”508  British diplomat and 

Middle Eastern expert, Harold Nicolson shared Smuts’ misgivings.  In his memoir 

entitled Peacemaking, 1919 (1933), Nicolson lamented the disorganization and lack of 

serious political foresight by the Allied diplomats at Versailles.509   

These negative perceptions of the peacemakers persisted after the Second World 

War and continued until the late 1960s.510  It was only when historians gained access to 

private French archives in the early 1970s (i.e. records concealed from the Nazis during 

the Second World War) that a cogent revisionist argument emerged.  Historians such as 

Stephen A. Schuker, Sally Marks, and Marc Trachtenberg have used French documents  

                                                        
508 Smuts, like Keynes, was in favour of a more lenient peace.  He argued throughout the 

negotiations that the Allies needed to work towards reconciliation with Germany.  Alan Sharp, 

Consequences of the Peace: The Versailles Settlement; aftermath and legacy, 1919-2010 (London: Haus, 

2010), 1.   
509 Published in 1933 on the heels of Adolf Hitler’s rise, Nicolson’s work aligned with the period’s 

emphasis on Versailles as flawed settlement, as well as the futility of constructing a lasting peace.  William 

R. Keylor, The Legacy of the Great War: Peacemaking, 1919 (Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, 1998), 

4.  
510 Principally, John M. Thompson, Russia, Bolshevism, and the Versailles Settlement (Princeton: 

Princeton University Press, 1966) and Mayer, Politics and Diplomacy of Peacemaking.  These works 

viewed the Treaty of Versailles through the lens of the Cold War.  Both books argued that that American 

democracy was offset by the leftist authoritarianism of the Russians even then, but Mayer suggested that 

the structure of the peace (i.e. the preponderance of the Big Four) was outdated and inherently antagonistic 

towards the rest of Europe. 
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to construct a more balanced narrative of the peace process.511  They argue that it was a 

remarkably hard task to redraw national borders and create a new balance of power in 

Europe following the war.  The Big Four fared relatively well in their historical 

assessment given these high stakes.  There is a great deal of merit to this revisionist trend, 

but one of the more significant mistakes the Allies made throughout the peace process 

was in assuming that the retention of the naval blockade would hasten the peace 

settlement and combat revolutionary upheaval.   

In the short-term, the post-Armistice blockade made it difficult for the Germans to 

refuse the Allies’ demands at the peace table, but at what cost to postwar credibility?  

Herbert Hoover pondered as much in a letter to President Wilson: “I seriously doubt 

whether when the world has recovered its moral equilibrium that it would consider a 

[peace] obtained upon such a device as the starving of women and children as being 

binding upon the German people.”512  After all, how could it be?  Accepting the terms of 

the Treaty of Versailles was the only means by which the Germans could guarantee 

unrestricted access to food.  It took five months after the signing of the Armistice for the 

peacemakers to even begin to revictual the country.   

The Brussels food agreement (14 March 1919) promised Germany the ability to 

import up to 370,000 tons of food per month, but not a single shipment reached German 

ports until the second week of July 1919 when the Treaty of Versailles was eventually 

ratified.  By then, hunger and disease had exacted a further toll on the civilian 
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population.513  Approximately 800 civilians died from hunger each day the post-

Armistice blockade was maintained,514 which prompted German delegates to allege at the 

peace table: “the hundreds of thousands of non-combatants who have perished since 

November 11, because of the blockade, were destroyed coolly and deliberately after our 

opponents had won a certain and assured victory.  Remember that when you speak of 

guilt and atonement.”515  This speech from Germany’s principal negotiator at Versailles, 

Ulrich von Brockdorff-Rantzau, clearly illustrates the counter-intuitiveness of bargaining 

food for peace.   

On several occasions David Lloyd George aptly likened the spread of Bolshevism 

in Germany to a festering disease – the problem needed containing before it subverted the 

Allies’ genuine attempt to heal war-torn Europe.  Yet how could Germany withstand the 

threat of revolution when its people were waging a daily battle for survival on the home 

front?  The Allies ultimately realized too late in the peace process that Germany’s fragile 

political state was closely tied to the overall health of the nation.  The relaxation of the 

naval blockade following the signing of the Armistice would not only have ameliorated 

the plight of many Germans, it might also have improved Allied-German relations in the 

interwar period.  The ramifications associated with prolonging the hunger and suffering 

of Germany would take years, even decades, to manifest.  When they did, however, their 

social and political impact was wide-ranging.     
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CHAPTER 7 

 

THE POSTWAR LEGACY OF THE HUNGER BLOCKADE 

 
The Long Shadow of War 

 

When asked after returning from the Paris Peace Conference if he was satisfied with its 

overall outcome, David Lloyd George replied that, “I did as well as might be expected… 

considering I was seated between Jesus Christ [Woodrow Wilson] and Napoleon 

Bonaparte [Georges Clemenceau].”516  Beyond his usual withering critique of others at 

the peace table, Lloyd George’s remark highlights the challenge of creating a lasting 

settlement when strong personalities representing competing national interests were 

forced to work together to build a new international order that could scarcely be imagined 

amid the destruction of four years of war.  Wilson, of course, was no New World messiah 

and Clemenceau, although fiercely patriotic, was certainly not militaristic or tyrannical in 

nature.  Both statesmen wanted nothing less than to ratify a treaty that would guarantee 

peace in Europe for the next one hundred years.   

Lloyd George and the British peace delegation had a similar hope for postwar 

Europe when they arrived in Paris in January 1919.  But the reality of the Versailles 

settlement was that no one left the peace table entirely satisfied.  Alfred Zimmern, the 

German-born classicist who represented Britain at the Paris Peace Conference, aptly 

summed up the difficulty of constructing such a lasting and comprehensive settlement.  

“Paris disgusted and depressed me more than I can say,” he revealed in a conversation 

with fellow delegates Arnold Toynbee and James Headlam-Morley.  “The Majestic and 
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Crillion [the two hotels that housed the British and American representatives] were full of 

unease and heartbroken men.”517  Headlam-Morley, who was the assistant director of the 

Political Intelligence Department in the Foreign Office and author of the wartime 

pamphlet, The Starvation of Germany (1917), expressed similar reservations about the 

entire process: “I have not found one single person here who approves of it as a whole… 

the total effect is, I am sure, quite indefensible and in fact is, totally unworkable.”518   

The fact that the Allies were finally at peace with Germany – and, later, Austria, 

Hungary, and Turkey upon signing separate treaties – meant that the naval blockade of 

the Central Powers could be raised once and for all.519  The lifting of the economic 

sanctions, however, offered no assurances that international trade and diplomatic 

relations would resume along prewar lines for either the Allies or the Central Powers.  

Indeed, the total cost of the war stood at $180 billion US.  That staggering figure, in 

conjunction with the 8.5 million soldiers killed in action, 21 million wounded, and more 

than 8 million civilian casualties, clearly shows how the First World War cast a long 

shadow over the twentieth century.520   

France unquestionably fared the worst over the course of the war in terms of 

economic strife, number of war dead, and the physical destruction of its territory.521   

Although it is difficult to compile a definitive balance sheet of the war’s physical and 

financial toll, the chart below, Table 4, illustrates the comparative “destruction of human  
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and financial capital”522 based on prewar figures.  In total, France’s war dead (1.3 million 

soldiers and 350,000 civilians) accounted for just over 7 percent of the country’s 

population between the ages of 15 and 49.  Britain, meanwhile, lost over 3 percent of its 

population ages 15 to 49 (723,000 troops and approximately 17,000 civilians),523 while 

the United States suffered far fewer casualties (100,000 soldiers and 750 civilians) due to 

its late entry into the war in April 1917.       

Loss of Human and Financial Capital (% Prewar Assets) 
 

[Table 4] Source: Stephen Broadberry and Mark Harrison, “The Economics of World War I: A 

Comparative Analysis, “Annual Meeting of the Economic History Association, Toronto, Canada (August 

2005), 17, 31.   

 

* This figure includes the German reparation bill and, in the case of human capital, does not include 

civilian deaths attributable to the Spanish flu pandemic of 1918.   

 

In comparison to the Allies, however, the Central Powers lost a greater percentage 

of their population to the war.  When these military and civilian casualties are compared 

with prewar figures, Germany, Austria-Hungary, Turkey, and Bulgaria experienced a 

combined loss of nearly 6 percent of their population ages 15 to 49, while Britain, France, 

Italy, Russia, and the U.S. lost roughly 3 percent.  As for the total financial burden, the 

                                                        
522 Broadberry and Harrison, “The Economics of World War I,” 31.  
523 Stevenson, Cataclysm, 442; Kramer, 40; British War Office, Statistics of the Military Effort of 

the British Empire during the Great War, 1914-1920 (London: H.M.S.O., 1922), 339, 674-676. 

                  Countries  Human Capital   Financial 

Capital 

                  Allies:    

                  Britain          3.6          14.9 

                  France          7.2          54.7 

                  Russia          2.3          ----- 

                  Italy          3.8          ----- 

                  United States          0.3          ----- 

    
                  Central Powers:    

                  Germany         6.3          54.7* 

                  Austria-Hungary         4.5          ----- 

                  Turkey and Bulgaria         6.8          ----- 
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First World War cost France more than 50 percent of its prewar assets, which persuaded 

the peacemakers to offset some of the expense through German reparation payments in 

the sum of 132 billion marks.524  Equalizing the monetary burden of the war was entirely 

understandable.  Most historians of the peace treaty have judged that John Maynard 

Keynes reacted too harshly when he accused the Allies of “[not] making the future of 

Europe their concern.”525   

On the contrary, the Allies were concerned with the future of Europe; the 

possibility that Germany would resume fighting on the Western Front and Bolshevism 

would spread westward throughout Europe.  But there were instances where fear trumped 

other political and moral considerations.  The decision to continue blockading Germany 

after signing the Armistice was a prime example.  In their attempt to stave off further 

bloodshed and revolution, the peacemakers ultimately gave little thought to the long-term 

implications of using food as a weapon against Germany.   

The blockade’s retention allowed the Allies to craft a treaty that Germany had to 

accept regardless of its objection to certain clauses.  Hunger was, of course, a powerful 

motivator that compelled the German delegation to sign the Treaty of Versailles on 28  

June 1919.526  The British Admiralty, Foreign and War Office gambled that the  

blockade’s continuance after 11 November 1918 would have “a hastening effect upon the  
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[peace] negotiations” by forcing the Germans to summarily agree to the Allies’ peace 

terms.527  Yet they clearly misjudged how the blockade’s strategic use throughout the war 

and post-Armistice period would affect the peace in the years to come.   

This chapter traces the postwar legacy of the Allied naval blockade and argues 

that its destructive effects spurred two significant developments in international relations 

over the course of the next thirty years.  One major consequence of the Allies’ decision to 

use food as a weapon during the First World War was a new prominence for international 

relief organizations and their role in providing assistance to fragile, war-torn nations.  

Several charitable organizations in Britain and America, for example, were either created 

to combat hunger in Germany once the naval blockade was raised or lent their support to 

the relief effort.  Their initial attempts to send aid, however, were somewhat 

controversial.  With the economic sanctions lifted, many argued that the Central Powers 

ought to take care of themselves.  Although raising money for enemy children was not 

regarded as an especially patriotic activity, the thought of “watching children starve to 

death without making an attempt to save them”528 proved powerful enough for 

organizations such as Save the Children and the Quakers to override the bitterness of the 

war years.  

 Malnutrition was rampant throughout Europe in 1919, but Germany and Austria 

were particularly affected because of the continuation of the Allied naval blockade.  In 

fact, more German civilians died of hunger during the eight months after the Armistice 

was signed until the ratification of the Treaty of Versailles than in any single year of the 
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war.  A brief look at German casualty statistics over the course of the conflict shows that 

nearly 350,000 civilians died from the effects of malnutrition from January 1918 to June 

1919.  It is remarkable to note that 40 percent of those deaths (or 140,000 civilian 

casualties) occurred in the month of November 1918.529  

Civilian Deaths in Germany Per Annum Since 1914-1919 

 

* Total civilian deaths in Germany in 1913 = 945,835 

 

       Year       Military Deaths  Civilian Deaths      Excess Deaths 

       1914              241,343       988,204             42,369 

       1915              434,034       954,706               8,871 

       1916              320,468       957,586             11,571 

       1917              281,905    1,000,433             68,598 

       1918              379,777    1,216,882           271,047 

       1919                14,314    1,017,284             71,449 

     Totals:            1,671,841    6,135,095           473,905 

[Table 5] Source: N. P. Howard, “The Social and Political Consequences of the Allied Food Blockade of 

Germany, 1918-1919,” German History 11, no. 2 (1993): 166. 

 

The second major legacy or consequence of the Allied naval blockade was the 

political and psychological impact it had on German military and economic thought in 

the interwar period.  Access to food – either through domestic production and/or the 

forcible requisitioning of goods – became an obsession with Nazi economists and 

military planners in the years leading up to the Second World War.  Their aim was to 

ensure that Germany would never again endure the starvation, agony, and defeat of 1914-

1919.  Food experts such as the agronomist Herbert Backe, for instance, advocated that 

the Third Reich should pursue living space (Lebensraum) in the East by starving millions  
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of ethnic Slavs and appropriating their lands.530  Backe’s ruthless “Hunger Plan” 

ultimately provided a powerful economic and racial justification for Germany to invade 

the Soviet Union in June 1941.  

Food and war invariably went hand-in-hand for many Nazis who had experienced 

the effects of the Allied blockade as either hungry, demoralized soldiers or malnourished 

children on the home front.  As Adolf Hitler privately told a Swiss diplomat in early 

1939, “I need the Ukraine, in order that no one is able to starve us again, as in the last 

war.”531  Avoiding a repeat of the First World War, however, meant that other “less 

desirable” races would have to starve in the next war.  Although the Allies continued to 

blockade Germany after the Armistice as a way to safeguard against renewed fighting 

and the spread of Bolshevism by speeding the conclusion of peace, the political impact of 

the prolonged sanctions was quite different and much longer-lived than intended. 

Fight the Famine 

 

Social activists in Britain and the United States regarded famine relief in postwar 

Germany as a moral obligation.  Many of them came from privileged backgrounds, were 

well educated, and had a history of commitment to social reform in their own country.  In 

Britain, these activists had either worked or volunteered in army hospitals during the war 

or were privy to the famine conditions in Europe as Members of Parliament, while ethnic 

background (i.e. German heritage) and religious affiliation (the Quakers) were more 

influential factors for anti-blockade activists in America.  Other defining features of  

the movement include the prominent role of women in famine relief work and the  
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emphasis on helping children to overcome the hardships of war.   

No civilian exemplified the relentless desire to feed the starving children of 

Europe quite like Eglantyne Jebb.  Born in Shropshire, England to a well-off Anglican 

family in 1876, Jebb studied History at the first all-female college at Oxford and trained 

as a primary school teacher in the late 1890s.532  Her first exposure to international relief 

work came on the eve of the Second Balkan War (the spring of 1913) after learning of the 

plight of Christians living in war-torn Macedonia from her brother-in-law Charles 

Buxton.  “Charlie” Buxton, a lawyer and former Liberal MP, had established the Balkan 

Committee in 1902 with the help of Irish playwright and social activist George Bernard 

Shaw, political theorist Leonard Hobhouse, and journalist and, later, government 

propagandist Charles Masterman.  The Committee’s objective was to draw attention to 

the political instability in the Balkan region, an area that Buxton continually referred to as 

“the danger point of Europe.”533   

In 1903, the Committee expanded to include a charitable organization, the 

Macedonian Relief Fund.534  As tensions rose again in the Balkans in 1912, Buxton 

approached Jebb to personally supervise the distribution of Balkan aid.  She eagerly 

obliged and took up the cause, raising additional funds until her departure in February  

1913.535  Her travels to Greece, Turkey, Bulgaria, and Serbia brought her face-to-face  

with strident nationalists whose religious and political zeal she found deeply troubling.   
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She could not understand, for instance, why Catholic Albanians (a religious minority in 

the region) were being massacred by Serbians simply on account of their religion.   

At first, she thought the reports from British officials exaggerated the tensions 

between the various ethnic groups, yet she later discovered that the Serbian military went 

to great lengths to conceal the murders.  Jebb’s time in the Balkans confirmed for her that 

the prewar “distinctions of nationality and race had permanently lost their importance.”  

What mattered more to her was an “insistence upon the unity of mankind.”536  She 

approached famine relief in postwar Europe with a similar desire to rebuild the trust 

between erstwhile enemies – this time, the Allies and the Central Powers.537  Jebb knew 

firsthand from volunteering in the Balkans that children (and the elderly) were often the 

first to suffer from the effects of war.538  The protracted and truly global nature of the 

First World War meant that many more civilians fell victim to hunger, sickness, and 

disease.   

Both Jebb and her younger sister Dorothy, Charlie Buxton’s wife, were acutely 

aware of the famine conditions in postwar Europe.  In August 1915, Dorothy Buxton 

began translating and publishing excerpts from French and German newspapers in order 

to provide the British public with a more balanced view of the war.  Readership of the 

pamphlets skyrocketed and she hired additional linguists in Italian, Russian, Hungarian, 

and Romanian to keep up with the public demand.  Buxton’s excerpts were later 

serialized in the Cambridge Magazine – a prominent intellectual publication with anti- 
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war leanings.  

It was obvious to the Jebbs that Britain’s blockade of the Central Powers posed a 

great health risk to the people of Europe, as even countries allied with Britain 

experienced serious hunger and deprivation.  By early 1917, for example, reports from 

the Romanian press told of the harsh home front conditions in which many froze to death 

in their homes due to a shortage of coal.  Meanwhile, it was not uncommon to see 

children in the streets of Belgium and Luxembourg “searching dustbins [for food] like 

starved dogs.”539  News that the Allies had signed a ceasefire agreement with Germany 

therefore gave Jebb, Dorothy Buxton, and Buxton’s husband a sense of hope that the 

worst of the famine was over.  They believed that the conclusion of the Armistice was the 

first step to restore peace and thereby save one more family from hunger and misery.  In 

the days that followed, however, Charlie Buxton’s secretary noted, “I shall never forget 

the sense of crisis which pervaded the household,” when the family learned that the 

Allies were continuing the blockade of Germany after the Armistice.540  

The Jebb sisters were irate that the Allies would knowingly prolong the suffering 

of millions for the sake of a signature on a peace treaty.  Jebb, in particular, struggled to 

reconcile her love of King and country with the continuance of a policy that she found 

extraordinarily cruel.  She further explored these themes of guilt and morality in a poem  

on the post-Armistice blockade:  

Now over our afternoon tea, dear friend, 

Let’s consult together why 

We’re starving sixty million people, between us, 

You and I… 

                                                        
539 Ibid., 214.  
540 Mulley, 219-220.  See also, “Reports from the Field,” June 1919, Box A413, Reel 32, Papers of 

Eglantyne Jebb, Save the Children Fund Archive, Cadbury Research Library, University of Birmingham, 

Birmingham, England. 
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Is it to make them accept terms of peace, which they otherwise wouldn’t? 

Or is it to get hold of markets we otherwise couldn’t? 

Do we want the food – though it’s more than  

We could eat – for our own poor nations? 

Or do we simply want to reduce the enemy population? 

…The fact is I want to know what to say 

When asked what my motives exactly were, by God, at the Judgment Day. 

For I’ve an increasing suspicion, 

Although hitherto I have hid it. 

God will not let us off scot[-]free 

When we say that the Government did it.541 

 

Jebb wrote the piece in late November 1918 amidst the groundswell of British patriotism 

that accompanied the defeat of the Central Powers and Lloyd George’s call for a general 

election.542  Although the poem was never published, it clearly articulated her disgust for 

the continued suffering of millions and explored the idea of personal guilt for the “sins” 

or actions of a government.   

 Typical of both their social status and political outlook, Jebb and Buxton were 

active members of the Women’s International League for Peace and Freedom (WILPF) – 

a vibrant non-profit organization created in 1915 to promote a peaceful end to the war.  

At a December 1918 meeting of the London chapter, the sisters decided to form a 

political pressure group to raise awareness of the famine conditions in Central Europe.  

Soon Marian Ellis, a founding member of WILPF and the wife of Liberal MP Lord 

Parmoor, joined the cause and enlisted the help of her husband and his influential 

friends.543  Parmoor’s political connections included Labour party leader Ramsay 

MacDonald, G. B. Shaw, and author H. G. Wells.  It was their vocal support and financial 

                                                        
541 Mulley, 225-226.  
542 There had not been a general election in Britain for eight years.  Therefore, Lloyd George 

hoped to capitalize on the Allied victory over the Central Powers by promising the British people a peace 

treaty that would hold Germany accountable for the war.  For more information on the British general 

election and its impact on the continuation of the naval blockade of Germany after 11 November 1918 see 

pp. 136-139.   
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backing that led to the creation of the Fight the Famine Council on 1 January 1919.  The 

immediate goal of the Council was to convince Lloyd George’s government to raise the 

post-Armistice blockade.  The second and longer-term aim was to secure international 

loans in order to purchase and transport food to famine stricken areas in Germany, 

Austria, and Russia.544   

Parallels can certainly be drawn between the monumental relief efforts of Herbert 

Hoover’s American Relief Administration (ARA) and the aims of the Fight the Famine 

Council in Britain.  Both organizations recognized the doubly destructive nature of the 

continued blockade; it possessed no military value after 11 November and forced Hoover 

to divert precious foodstuffs intended for Allied, neutral, and liberated countries in order 

to prevent further starvation in Germany.545  Hoover particularly resented how the Allies 

– blinded by the power of the hunger blockade – repeatedly interfered with the ARA’s 

ability to revictual Europe.  He warned them against the long-term implications of 

starving the Germans, arguing that famine-stricken areas were far more prone to political 

extremism and violence than an adequately fed and well-cared-for population.546  Both 

the ARA and the Fight the Famine Council knew that the only real cure for hunger and 

disaffection was a massive dose of humanitarian aid administered closely by the Allies.   

Save the Children 

As the founder and general secretary of the Fight the Famine Council, Jebb wanted to 

alert the British public to the fact that their government was starving the enemy after the 

Armistice.  She believed that the most compelling way to illustrate the devastating impact 

                                                        
544 Lord Parmoor, The Policy and the Work of the Fight the Famine Council (London: Swarthmore 

Press Ltd., 1920), 1-3.        
545 Hoover, Memoirs, 335.  See also, Bullitt Lowry, Armistice 1918, 174.  
546 Bane and Lutz, ‘European Food Situation: Mr. Hoover’s Analysis,’ 16 November 1918, 16-18.    



 

201 

 

 

 

of the blockade was to graphically show the damage caused by chronic malnutrition.  

Using photographs of German and Austrian children obtained by Allied medical doctors, 

and given to Buxton in late 1918, Jebb distributed leaflets with a picture of a starving 

baby to passersby in Trafalgar Square on 15 April 1919.  The leaflets showed a small 

female child in Vienna with a disproportionately large head supported by tiny limbs and a 

shrunken torso (Figure 10).  At first glance, the child’s body resembled that of a three to 

five month old infant weighing just over 12 lbs.  The leaflet stated, however, that the 

child was actually two and a half years old, at least 16 lbs. underweight for her age, and 

had failed to reach proper growth milestones because of severe malnutrition.547    

There were millions of innocent children who were directly impacted by the 

Allies’ decision to continue blockading the Central Powers.  Conservative estimates, like 

those listed in Table 5, suggest that Germany suffered nearly 500,000 “excess” civilian 

casualties from August 1914 to June 1919.  Meanwhile, Britons went about their usual 

business – they shopped, went to work, raised their children, worried about their loved 

ones at the front, and, of course, were grateful that the Allies finally defeated the 

Germans.548  

Jebb knew that she faced an uphill battle in convincing her country to look 

beyond its grief and sadness in order to “save the children.”  Public support would go a 

long way into pressuring the government to raise the blockade, but she realized that 

others either did not care what happened to the children of the enemy or simply would 

                                                        
547 Francesca Mary Wilson, 174.  See also, Jones, 79-82.  
548 In comparison to Imperial Germany, standard of living actually improved in wartime Britain, 

especially for lower socio-economic classes, due to gaping holes in the labour market left by soldiers at the 

front.  Access to adequate rations also ensured that Britain did not go hungry during the First World War.  

Jay Winter, The Great War and the British People (Cambridge Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1986), 

279; Bryder, 142.    
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[Figure 10] A leaflet distributed by the Fight the Famine Council in Trafalgar Square in April 1919.  Its 

purpose was to raise awareness of the blockade’s devastating impact on the starving children of Europe, 

especially those in enemy countries like Germany and Austria.  Source: Clare Mulley, The Woman Who 

Saved the Children: A Biography of Eglantyne Jebb, Founder of Save the Children (Oxford: Oneworld  

Publications, 2009), Plate 16. 

 



 

203 

 

 

 

not take the time to educate themselves.  Either way, she persisted in educating the 

masses, wholeheartedly believing that “… every tin of babies’ food which private effort 

can send out comes as a token of sympathy and a message of new hope to some 

despairing mother.”549  Thus the Fight the Famine Council tried to appeal to the kindness 

and decency of most Britons, arguing it was a lack of public knowledge – not genuine 

hatred of the enemy – that allowed the blockade to continue unchecked.550   

Trafalgar Square, apart from being a very visible area in central London, was a 

known site for public protests dating back to 1848 when the working class Chartists took 

over the Square to protest parliamentary corruption.  For both reasons Jebb selected the 

site and she chose well, as thousands of leaflets were distributed that April afternoon.  It 

can be assumed that some passersby disposed of the leaflet without ever looking at its 

contents, while others may have glanced at the image of the starving baby and given it no 

further thought.  Others, still, might have been outraged that they were being unfairly 

asked to provide for the wellbeing of enemy children who “will only grow up to kill us 

again in twenty-five years.”551  She nevertheless wanted to let people in Britain know that 

widespread starvation was occurring at the hands of the Allies.    

One particular group whose attention Jebb caught was the Metropolitan  

Police.  Although public protesting was not an illegal act, the distribution of “seditious” 

material (i.e. the “Starving Baby” leaflets) was enough to arrest her under the Defence of 

the Realm Act (DORA).552  There is no doubt that the arrest was excessive, yet it actually 

                                                        
549 Mulley, 245.  
550 Lord Parmoor, The Famine in Europe, the Facts and Suggested Remedies (London: 

Swarthmore Press Ltd., 1920), 14. 
551 This quote came from Fight the Famine Council member Lady Norah Bentnick, who described 

a common sentiment among Britons who thought it futile to provide the Germans with famine relief 
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aided the Fight the Famine cause in a way that the Jebb sisters could never have imagined 

possible.  For instance, Jebb could have been fined £5 per pamphlet under the Defence of 

the Realm Act.  Several thousand were handed out in Trafalgar Square, but given that the 

court could not determine exactly how many leaflets were distributed, she was only fined 

£5 for the initial offense.  The value of the fine was, of course, more symbolic than 

punitive.  Yet she still had to stand trial for sedition the following month.  In front of a 

packed courtroom at Mansion House, the official residence of the Lord Mayor of 

London, Jebb maintained that she was innocent, brazenly telling the judge: “it never 

occurred to me that a purely humanitarian plea had anything to do with the defence of the 

realm.”553   

The judge, however, was unmoved by Jebb’s testimony and found her guilty of 

distributing political propaganda on 15 May 1919.  In recounting the verdict to her 

family, Jebb viewed the outcome of the trial as “equivalent to victory.”  Indeed, upon 

exiting the courtroom the prosecuting attorney felt compelled to reimburse Jebb the £5 

and insisted she use the money for famine relief in Germany.  That small yet symbolic 

donation was the first of many that Jebb collected in an effort to ameliorate the suffering 

of millions starving under the Allied blockade.   

Capitalizing on the publicity of Jebb’s recent trial, Buxton used her husband’s 

contacts to book the Royal Albert Hall as the venue to launch the creation of the Save the 

Children Fund (SCF) four days later.554  “Save the children!” was the phrase Jebb yelled 

to passersby as she distributed leaflets in Trafalgar Square; the name of the fund 

conveyed the urgency of the cause by focusing on a large segment of the enemy 
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population – young children – who were clearly not responsible for their government’s 

misdeeds.  The gathering at the Royal Albert Hall raised more than £30,000 for famine 

relief in Central Europe.  Furthermore, it brought national attention and political 

legitimacy to a cause that hitherto had been considered unpatriotic in Britain.555   

The next step was to bring international awareness to the humanitarian efforts of the SCF.   

Undoubtedly, Jebb’s “greatest fundraising coup” occurred in the winter of 1919 

when Pope Benedict XV lent his support to the Save the Children Fund with a donation 

of £25,000.  He had received a letter from the SCF several months before detailing the 

extent of the famine and agreed to meet with Jebb in Rome.  In addition to the private 

donation, Pope Benedict vowed that he would write an encyclical letter to Catholic 

bishops around the world asking that they take up a collection for the SCF in their 

dioceses on Holy Innocents’ Day.556  Benedict’s letter marked the first time in the history 

of the Catholic Church that the Vatican officially supported a non-denominational (and 

humanitarian) cause.  The result was impressive.  Catholic parishioners worldwide gave 

£400,000 – the contemporary equivalent of £13 million – to the Save the Children Fund 

by the end of December 1919.  As international awareness of the movement grew, so too, 

did the donations.  The SCF reached a landmark £1 million (more than £29 million by 

today’s standards) by its first anniversary and even counted David Lloyd George’s wife  
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among its more active members.557   

Jebb and Buxton’s history with the Women’s International League for Peace and 

Freedom, helped inspire the League’s founder, Jane Addams, to work with Hoover in 

organizing a joint Quaker-ARA drive in the United States for famine relief.  The 

relationship with Addams sparked a very fruitful partnership with the American Friends 

Service Committee (a Quaker based organization established to help civilian victims of 

the First World War), which assumed the actual responsibility for feeding enemy 

children.558  By late 1920, the Quakers had built more than 3,300 child-feeding centres in 

88 cities throughout Germany.  These centres were essentially small soup 

kitchens/nutritional clinics that aimed to feed as many sick and undernourished children 

as possible.  Based on records from the American Relief Administration, the Quaker-SCF 

child-feeding program served 293 million meals to more than 1 million hungry German 

children by December 1921.559  Although the American Friends Service Committee 

halted countrywide operations in 1922, the program continued for another two years 

under the direction of Major General Henry T. Allen, the Commander of U.S. Army  

troops in the Rhineland.560    

Several conclusions can be drawn from the humanitarian relief work of 

organizations such as the Fight the Famine Council, Save the Children Fund, and the 
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American Friends Service Committee in the wake of the Allied decision to continue the 

blockade after 11 November 1918.  First, it points to the fact that knowledge of the 

famine in Central Europe was enough to convince many high profile social activists to 

protest its continuance.  Time and again, they publicly risked appearing unpatriotic in 

order to raise awareness of the ongoing starvation of the enemy.  Second, it was their 

emphasis on the needless suffering of children that struck a universal chord.  Thousands 

worldwide generously opened their wallets (and hearts) to a cause far greater than 

vengeance or retribution.  Morality was the overwhelming factor that motivated these 

non-governmental organizations to feed and clothe the children of the enemy.  In doing 

so, they established an international tradition of postwar relief work that continues to this 

day.561  

But that is only part of the historical narrative.  Charity was given to the Germans 

primarily out of guilt over the death of civilians.  Indeed, speaking as the newly 

appointed Secretary of State for War, Winston Churchill was quoted in The Times as 

stating: “it is repugnant to the British nation to use this weapon of starvation which falls 

mainly upon the women and children, upon the old, the weak, and the poor, after all the  

fighting has stopped.”562  Famine relief was too little, too late to help the elderly and 

infirm.  Humanitarian organizations had to prioritize which mouths to feed.  Although 

German children were fed first in almost every instance of postwar famine relief, 

memories of the endemic hunger lingered long after the blockade was raised.  
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National Socialism and the Push for German Autarky   

The Allied naval blockade remained a potent “weapon of starvation” in German eyes for 

years to come.  Ultimately, it confirmed for German leaders how important it was to 

avoid starvation in the event of another European war and catalyzed the push for 

economic self-sufficiency in the 1920s and 1930s.  Similar to Britain and the U.S. in the 

years following the First World War, Germany turned inward after 1919 and focused on 

domestic politics.  This political shift – eschewing Realpolitik in favour of social and 

economic concerns – reflected urgent necessity.   

The Weimar Republic formally came into being after its first president, Social  

Democratic Party (SPD) leader, Friedrich Ebert, quashed a series of uprisings by the far 

right and the radical left.563  Ending the violence through the use of state sanctioned 

paramilitary groups,564 signing the peace treaty, and a new democratic constitution, were 

intended to bring much-needed stability to postwar Germany.  These actions, although 

well intended, nevertheless plagued the Republic with a sense of illegitimacy and 

reputation for unpopular compromises.565  The new republic was also isolated within the 

community of nations.  

Unlike the Congress of Vienna, where the victors sat around the peace table with  

the vanquished after Napoleon’s defeat, the Central Powers had deliberately been 

excluded from the peace talks.  Moreover, the Versailles settlement stipulated that 

Germany should be denied entry to the League of Nations, the newly formed 

                                                        
563 Roger B. Myerson, “Political Economics and the Weimar Disaster” Journal of Institutional and 
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intergovernmental organization for collective security.  Although the League later 

overturned the decision in 1926 as part of a larger rapprochement with Germany, the 

Republic was born of defeat and, consequently, spent the next four to five years sidelined 

from international affairs.566    

It took Germany until late 1925 for industrial production to function at 83 percent 

of its prewar rate.  The interests of German agriculture and heavy industry, as in most 

countries, did not typically align.567  Prewar agricultural interests groups, such as the 

conservative-minded Agrarian League, competed with the titans of German industry – 

e.g. the steel company Krupp, chemical giant IG Farben, and electric company AEG – for 

political favour and a greater share of gross national product.  Yet the collapse of the 

Kaiserreich and the inherent constraints of a fragile postwar economy provided a rare 

opportunity for rural interests to finally align with the aims of big business.568  Both 

groups wanted the Weimar Republic to institute protectionist tariffs to promote the 

consumption of domestic goods over foreign imports.   

President Ebert and the Social Democrats, however, had already made it their 

priority to reintegrate Germany into the global postwar economy.  This meant promoting 

free trade and pan-European cooperation; in essence, a complete reversal of the 

protectionist policies of Imperial Germany and those espoused by the old Agrarian 

League.569  Ultimately, two political parties were able to capitalize on the economic and 

political uncertainty.  Both emerged out of the rubble of the First World War and 
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espoused similar extreme right-wing views on anti-Semitism, the Treaty of Versailles, 

and national or völkisch pride.570 

  The first organization founded in 1918 was the German National People’s Party 

(DNVP), who garnered much of the rural conservative vote in the 1925 Reichstag 

elections.571  The second political party founded in 1920 was the National Socialist 

German Workers’ Party (NSDAP, more commonly abbreviated as the Nazis), who 

presented themselves as a “dynamic, modern totalitarian” movement compared to the 

flagging influence and popularity of the old elites.572  Here were two clear alternatives to 

the German Democratic Party (the moderate liberals), the Social Democrats, and even the 

resolute Catholic Centre.  Both the DNVP and the National Socialists appealed to the 

more ardent of German conservatives, but only one party actually translated the people’s 

discontent – both urban and rural and male and female concerns – into more electoral 

votes.       

The National Socialists were particularly able to capitalize on the widespread 

economic and political uncertainty after the stock market crash of October 1929.  They 

won more than 18 percent of the popular vote in the watershed federal election of 

September 1930 and became the second largest party in the Reichstag next to the SPD.  

Under the fanatical leadership of Adolf Hitler, party membership rose dramatically from 
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3,000 Germans in 1921 to 1.6 million in 1933.573  The appeal of National Socialism was 

exceptionally broad-based; what started out as a primarily urban phenomenon quickly 

developed into a full-fledged political ideology that attracted a wide cross section of 

voters and devout party members.574  

 In his insightful study of the Weimar Republic, the late German historian Detlev  

Peukert came to the conclusion that Germany’s defeat in the First World War was the 

greatest factor that contributed to the nation’s “reversion to authoritarianism” in the early 

1930s.  Unlike previous historians of late nineteenth and early twentieth century 

Germany, Peukert believed that there was no continuity in German history leading 

directly from Otto von Bismarck to Hitler.575  The key to understanding the Nazis’ 

seizure of power (Machtergreifung), then, was in realizing that demography played a 

significant and undeniable role in shaping Germany’s worldview.   
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Peukert identified four separate generations who wielded power throughout the 

Republic’s lifespan.  First was what he referred to as the “Wilhelmine” generation.  These 

were contemporaries of the Kaiser and felt most akin to the Prussian conservatism of 

Bismarck.  President Paul von Hindenburg (b. 1847) and Foreign Minister Walter 

Rathenau (b. 1867) were typical of this older generation.  Next came the “Gründerzeit” 

generation or those who were born in the era of unification (c. 1870).  These men often 

rose to positions of prominence in Weimar politics (e.g. President Ebert and Foreign 

Minister Gustav Stresemann), and were unlikely to share the reactionary views of 

National Socialism.  Instead, Peukert maintained that it was the “wartime” generation 

who had participated in the conflict (e.g. Hitler and Hermann Göring) or the 

“superfluous” generation, who grew up during those years, like Heinrich Himmler (b. 

1900), that were most affected by the postwar turmoil576 and most receptive to National 

Socialist authoritarianism.577   

Peukert’s demographic theory is by no means indisputable.  The vast majority of 

young German males and demobilized soldiers did not belong to violent paramilitary 

organizations like the anti-communist Freikorps or Stahlhelm.  Yet there is a definite 

correlation between what he termed the “superfluous” generation born around 1900 and a 

political tendency to align with revanchist views of Nazism.  More than half of all party 

members in 1933, in fact, belonged to this age category, while the next largest cohort 

belonged to the “wartime” generation who “served only a limited and usually bloodless 

                                                        
576 All four of these generational labels are Peukert’s own.  See, Peukert, 14-18.  
577 Historians Ian Kershaw, Peter Loewenberg, and Tom Taylor all agree that the appeal of Nazism 

was not a class-based, but rather generational, phenomenon.  See Ian Kershaw, The Nazi Dictatorship: 

Problems and Perspectives of Interpretation (London: Arnold, 1985), 145-147; Peter Loewenberg, “The 

Psychohistorical Origins of the Nazi Youth Cohort,” American Historical Review 76, no. 5 (December 

1971): 1457-1502; Tom Taylor, “Images of Youth and the Family in Wilhelmine Germany: Toward a 

Reconsideration of the German Sonderweg,” German Studies Review 15 (Winter 1992): 55-73. 
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tour” of combat.  These generations wanted to right the “wrongs” of 1918-1919 and, 

unlike the postwar youth in Britain, America, and even France, only in Germany and 

Austria had this generation endured mass starvation on the home front.578   

The First World War had a profound impact on these impressionable youths who 

formed the backbone of the Nazi Party.  It was not a coincidence that they prioritized 

German food supply after standing in long breadlines for small and tasteless quantities of 

rations during the war:      

Food shortages among soldiers on the front and civilians at home had deeply 

demoralized Germany towards capitulation in 1918.  It was both fear of a repeat 

of the disastrous decline in civilian morale and a powerful sense of the German 

people’s superior entitlement to food[,] which made the National Socialists  

determined that the German population would not go hungry during the [next]  

war.579  

In his never published 700-page follow up to Mein Kampf (1928), Hitler envisioned that  

portions of the Soviet Union would serve as the German version of the American 

West.580  Although the concept of “living space” was not a Nazi invention, it was 

certainly a longstanding component of Nazi ideology.  Lebensraum, as a form of cultural 

imperialism, entailed the confiscation of millions of acres of farmland in Eastern Europe.  

                                                        
578 Donson, 153, 237.  See also, Benjamin Ziemann, Contested Commemorations: Republican War 

Veterans and Weimar Political Culture (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2013), esp. 198-234; 

Karl Mannheim, “The Problem of Generations,” in Essays on the Sociology of Knowledge (New York: 

Oxford University Press, 1952); Adelheid von Saldern, The Challenge of Modernity: German Social and 

Cultural Studies, 1890-1960 (Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 2002), 69-70; David D. Roberts, 

The Totalitarian Experiment in Twentieth Century Europe: Understanding the Poverty of Great Politics 

(New York: Routledge, 2006), 203-205; Maurice Hankey, ‘Memorandum on Blockade and the Laws of 

War re: Extracts from the Writings of German Leaders bearing its Results,’ 31 October 1927, TNA, ADM 

116/3619.  
579 Lizzie Collingham, The Taste of War: World War Two and the Battle for Food (New York: 

Allen Lane, 2011) 4-5.  
580 Tooze, 658. 
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Hitler often spoke of the opportunities that awaited ethnic Germans who “heroically” 

colonized the East through farming.  The reality of attaining this living space, however, 

was far less noble.581  In the end, it was not German farmers who secured more territory 

for the Reich, but rather elite units of Wehrmacht soldiers tasked with the physical 

destruction of an “undesirable” race.  Once again, as in the First World War, food was 

used as a powerful weapon to disarm the enemy.   

Herbert Backe and the Nazi Hunger Plan  

The Germany that went to war in September 1939 was a nation far more prepared to feed  

its soldiers and civilians than the Germany of Kaiser Wilhelm.  German military planners 

correctly predicted that Britain would implement a naval blockade in the event of war 

with the Reich.582  Thus, they brainstormed ways to overcome the inevitable loss, as they 

saw it, of global markets and access to foodstuffs.  As early as October 1936, for 

example, the office of the Four Year Plan was created to oversee the systematic planning 

and implementation of Germany’s bid for living space in the East.583  As Agriculture 

Commissioner of the Four Year Plan and State Secretary of the Reich Ministry of Food 

and Agriculture, forty-year-old Herbert Backe was one of the chief architects of the 

Nazis’ plan to economically exploit the Soviet Union.       

 Backe, like so many high-ranking Nazi technocrats, was part of the “superfluous” 

generation born around the turn of the twentieth century.  Too young to participate in the 

                                                        
581 Anna Bramwell, Blood and Soil: Richard Walther Darré and Hitler’s Green Party 

(Buckinghamshire: Kensal Press, 1985) 159.  
582 Britain implemented its naval blockade against Nazi Germany on 4 September 1939.  Between 

1941 and 1942, only 12 ships managed to break through the Allied blockade.  Collingham, 35.  For a more 

detailed analysis of British naval strategy during the Second World War see, Stephen Roskill, The War at 

Sea, 1939-1945, 4 vols. (London: H. M. Stationary Office, 1954-1961); idem, Naval Policy between the 

Wars; Middlebrook, Convoy; Beveridge, The Blockade and the Civilian Population, pp. 2-31, LHCMA. 
583 Joachim Lund, “Denmark and the New European Order, 1940-1942,” Contemporary European 

History 13, no. 3 (August 2004): 305-306; Woodruff D. Smith, The Ideological Origins of Nazi 

Imperialism (New York: Oxford University Press, 1986), esp. 127-167.   



 

215 

 

 

 

war, yet old enough to remember the stain of defeat and the Treaty of Versailles, this 

generation of disaffected German youth often turned to political extremism in their 

twenties.  Backe first joined the SA or Stormtroopers (Sturmabteilung)584 in 1922 and 

then formally joined the Nazi Party three years later.  His formative years, however, were 

not spent on the German home front.  Instead, he was in the unique position of being born 

to a German family who lived in Russia since at least the 1890s.585  As successful 

German émigrés, his family found themselves the target of Russian distrust when the war 

broke out in August 1914.  They were immediately ostracized by the townspeople and 

Backe spent the next four years in an internment camp deep in the Ural Mountains.586  

His imprisonment in a country in which he had spent his entire life completely disabused 

him of any loyalty towards the Russian people.   

After the war, Backe’s family settled in Göttingen, Germany, where he studied 

agriculture at the local university and later attended graduate school in Hanover.  His 

dissertation on the Russian peasantry and international grain market was considered too 

radical by the deans at Hanover Technical University.  They ultimately rejected his thesis 

for its racially pejorative stance on the “inferiority” of the Soviet Union and denied him 

his doctorate.587  Yet his views on Russian society closely mirrored those espoused by 

Hitler and the Nazi Party.  Backe believed that Russia, as the breadbasket of Europe, had 

failed to live up to its economic potential because of inherent “Slavic backwardness” and 

a parochial outlook on the world.588  He thought that Germany, in contrast, was far more  

                                                        
584 The SA, known colloquially as the “Brownshirts,” was a right-wing paramilitary group 

instrumental in the Nazis’ rise to power.    
585 Though very little is known about Backe’s family prior to the First World War.   
586 Gerhard, 48.  
587 Ibid., 49.  
588 Gesine Gerhard, “Food as a Weapon: Agricultural Sciences and the Building of a Greater 

German Empire,” Food, Culture & Society 14, no. 3 (September 2011): 337-338. 
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innovative and racially “deserving” of territory presently squandered by the Russians.589   

In the months before the German invasion of the Soviet Union in June 1941  

(Operation Barbarossa), Backe self-published his dissertation and copies were distributed 

to the highest-ranking party members on the orders of the Führer.590  On the strength of 

his Russian “expertise,” he devised a ruthless plan to secure adequate food for the 

invading Wehrmacht troops and took measures to prevent Germans on the home front 

from going hungry.  The aptly entitled “Hunger Plan” was unveiled to senior Nazi 

officials at a secret meeting in Berlin on 2 May.  The plan called for the division of the 

Soviet Union into smaller, separate territories based on their economic productivity (i.e. 

the potential for economic exploitation).  

The various regions of the U.S.S.R. were classified as follows; Belarus and 

northern and central Russia were considered “deficit territories,” while southern Russia, 

the Caucasus, and Ukraine were labeled “surplus territories.”  The first category, as the 

name implied, encompassed less profitable areas – farmland was either scarce and/or 

urban centres were few and far between.  The surplus zone, however, was considered the 

crown jewel of the Soviet Union.  These regions formed the agricultural heartland of 

Eastern Europe and it was from this area that the Reich would establish an economic 

stronghold powerful enough to withstand the enemy blockade.591  What was to become of 

the deficit zone and how exactly did the Nazis intend to take over agricultural production 

in the East? 

                                                        
589 Michael Burleigh, The Third Reich: A New History (New York: Hill and Wang, 2000), 512-
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590 Gerhard, “Food as a Weapon,” 340.  
591 Alex J. Kay, “Germany’s Staatssekretäre, Mass Starvation and the Meeting of 2 May 1941,” 
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As was often the case with National Socialism, murderous policies were couched 

in odd euphemisms and bureaucratic language.  This is what the German-Jewish 

philosopher Hannah Arendt called the “banality of evil”592 – countries were invaded and 

lives were routinely eliminated by the Nazi regime all with the stroke of a pen.  Quite 

simply, it was as if items on a dinner menu were being discussed, rather than the 

calculated and deliberate extermination of an ethnic or political group.  The Nazi Hunger 

Plan was no exception.  The proposal boldly called for the deficit regions to be sealed off 

from the rest of the Soviet Union.  No food could leave the surplus zone unless it was 

intended for German soldiers or transported back to Berlin.  This effectively meant that 

people in northern and central Russia were left to starve to death.   

The famine in Eastern Europe was “unavoidable” because, as a 1941 Nazi 

memorandum on food policy explained, “the war can only continue to be waged if the 

entire Wehrmacht is fed from Russia during the third year of the war.  As a result, X [10] 

million people will undoubtedly starve.”  Ten million was a figure that far surpassed even 

the highest estimates of German casualties (750,000 civilians) on the home front from the 

Allied blockade; nor did it include the projected deaths of those living in the surplus 

zone.593  The population of Russia had increased by 30 million people since the outbreak 

of the First World War, which has led some scholars to speculate that the Hunger Plan 

intended to violently turn the clock back to when there were 30 million fewer Russians 

living in the East.  Regardless of which statistic was more accurate, Backe’s plan served  

                                                        
592 Hannah Arendt, Eichmann in Jerusalem: A Report on the Banality of Evil (New York: Viking 

Press, 1964). 
593 Kay, “Germany’s Staatssekretäre,” 685; idem, Exploitation, Resettlement, and Mass Murder, 

134, 163.  See also, Frederick Strauss, “The Food Problem in the German Economy,” Quarterly Journal of 

Economics 55, no. 3 (May 1941): 364-370, 410.   Subsequent meetings involving the implementation of the 
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as a brutal insurance policy so that Hitler could rest easy knowing that “no one can starve  

us again, as in the last war.”594     

Historians of the Second World War have only recently begun to examine the 

influence of Herbert Backe on the broader war of extermination (Vernichtungskrieg) that 

uniquely characterized Nazi occupation in the East.  Currently, there does not exist a 

single biography of the Reich food administrator, although he was highly instrumental in 

planning the mass murder of millions on the Eastern Front.595  The experience of the First 

World War ultimately brought senior Nazi officials to adopt extreme measures to 

circumvent the impending British blockade.  The search for Lebensraum was their 

hubristic attempt to outsmart geography and avoid a calamitous repeat of 1914-1918.  

Germany’s aggressive bid for autarky drove the invasion of the Soviet Union in the 

summer of 1941 and marked the crossing of a “moral threshold” as its chance at victory 

faded on the battlefield.596 

It would be straying too far into counterfactuals and hyperbole to suggest that the  

Allied blockade of Germany during the First World War directly caused the deaths of 

millions in Eastern Europe twenty years later.  It did, however, establish a military and 

diplomatic precedent whereby food was used as a weapon to break the enemy’s will and, 

later, as a form of leverage throughout the peace process.  The hunger blockade 

demonstrated that the lives of civilians could be subordinated to the political and military 

objectives of nations in conflict.  Massive collateral damage was now merely part and 

                                                        
594 Kay, “Germany’s Staatssekretäre,” 689; Snyder, 161.  
595 There is a forthcoming book by German agrarian historian Gesine Gerhard, although its title 

and publication date are unknown. 
596 Kay, “Germany’s Staatssekretäre,” 687; Richard Overy, Why The Allies Won (London: 
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parcel of total war.597  It was a dangerous precedent especially when the defeated power 

could draw murderous inspiration from the experience to aid them in a future war of 

conquest. 
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CHAPTER 8 

CONCLUDING REMARKS ON THE HUNGER BLOCKADE 
 

On 4 August 1914, Great Britain declared war on Imperial Germany following the latter’s 

“blank cheque” of support for Austria-Hungary against Serbia in the Balkans and the 

subsequent invasions of Belgium and France, which sparked the First World War.598  

Within two days of entering the conflict, the British Liberal government of H. H. Asquith 

launched a naval blockade of Germany in the North Sea and the Atlantic Ocean599 in 

order to exert economic pressure on the Central Powers (Germany, Austria-Hungary, and 

the Ottoman Empire) and lend immediate support to their allies (France and Russia) on 

the Continent.  

The naval blockade of Germany remained in place for the next 59½ months from 

6 August 1914 to 12 July 1919 when the Treaty of Versailles was finally ratified.  The 

Allies maintained the economic sanctions for almost eight months after the guns stopped 

firing on the Western Front and a ceasefire agreement had been reached between the 

victorious Allies and the vanquished Kaiserreich.  Archibald C. Bell’s British official 

history of the naval blockade (1937) estimated that its retention throughout 1914-1919 

caused the deaths of more than 750,000 German civilians.600   

Imperial Germany, like Britain, was heavily reliant on imports.  In 1913, for 

                                                        
598 Michael S. Neiberg, Dance of the Furies: Europe and the Outbreak of World War I 
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example, three-quarters of German imports arrived by sea.601  Thus, denying the Germans 

access to essential goods such as oil, food, and textiles eventually caused the home front 

to experience a level of hunger and deprivation that was unknown on the Allied home 

fronts.  In fact, the term “hunger blockade” was first coined in the winter of 1916 to refer 

to the drastic reduction in German civilian rations from 1,900 calories a day to a 

starvation diet of 1,000 calories.602       

While pleading his case before the International Military Tribunal in Nuremburg 

on 14 July 1946, Admiral Karl Dönitz quoted a passage from Archibald C. Bell’s British 

official history of the naval blockade to remind the Allies that they, too, had engaged in 

wartime practices, which if scrutinized during peacetime would appear unnecessarily 

cruel.603  Even if one dismisses Dönitz’s claim as sensationalistic or hypocritical, it points 

to the negative long-term impact of targeting civilians in war for short-term goals or 

political concessions.   

This thesis set out to explain how the British naval blockade “ranks first,” to 

quote famed military writer Sir Basil Liddell Hart, among the reasons for the defeat of 

Germany in the First World War.604  It argues that the naval blockade ultimately hastened 

the Allied victory and helped make possible the historic, albeit fragile, peace that 

followed.  Chapter 1 provided an overview of the structure of the dissertation and 

                                                        
601 Vincent, 36.  
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contextualized this work against the existing literature on the Allied naval blockade.  The 

central argument is that much of the previous scholarship focused too heavily on the 

initial decision to blockade Germany or merely analyzed the early work of Britain’s 

Tenth Cruiser Squadron at the expense of examining the evolution of Allied economic 

warfare over the course of the war.  

The naval blockade that Britain implemented in August 1914 was far more 

rudimentary and benign than the lethal “weapon of starvation” that Winston Churchill 

denounced as Britain’s Secretary of State for War in March 1919.605  As discussed in 

Chapter 2, it was not until an 11 March 1915 Order in Council that food was added to the 

list of contraband items bound for Germany.  Even then, the British Foreign Office found 

itself in a legal quandary when it tried to persuade neutrals against trading with the 

Central Powers.  The United States and the Northern Neutrals – Sweden, Norway, 

Denmark, the Netherlands, and Switzerland – did not take kindly to outside interference 

from Whitehall.  Neither did British businessmen whose revenue was derived from the 

laissez-faire principle of a free market economy.  The main obstacle that the Allies faced 

in the early years of the blockade’s existence was that very few businesses wanted to turn 

their backs on Britain’s largest trading partner, Imperial Germany.606  Indeed, patriotism 

and morality only held so much sway when the policy of “business as usual” seemed far 

more profitable and even pragmatic. 

The French, meanwhile, attempted to clamp down on instances where domestic 

goods and exports from other countries indirectly made their way to the Central Powers 

via the Northern Neutrals.  The French Foreign Minister Théophile Delcassé was 
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instrumental in creating an inter-departmental committee (Comité de Restriction des 

Approvisionnements et du Commerce de l’Ennemi) to investigate which countries or 

French corporations disproportionally traded with neutral Europe compared to prewar 

trade statistics.  He recommended that the French parliament should allocate a portion of 

its war budget to pre-emptively stockpile certain goods from the Northern Neutrals 

(foodstuffs and potential war matérial) before the Germans could even purchase them.607  

However, both the French War Ministry and the parliament thought the idea was rather 

tedious and spendthrift.  The annual budget only stretched so far and, consequently, the 

collective buying power of France was not going to be used to stockpile Dutch meat or 

Swedish iron ore at the expense of aiding troops at the front.   

Even the sinking of the Lusitania, a British ocean liner carrying approximately 

2,000 passengers from New York to Liverpool on 7 May 1915, did not initially convince 

the U.S. Congress to declare war on Imperial Germany.  Ultimately, 1,200 passengers 

died off the coast of Ireland, including 128 Americans, when a German torpedo hit the 

ship as it approached the British Isles.  Although the Lusitania disaster signalled an 

intensification of the war at sea – following the introduction of unrestricted German 

submarine warfare in February 1915 – President Woodrow Wilson and the U.S. State 

Department were torn between maintaining America’s position of neutrality and 

defending the country against wanton attacks by joining the Allies in their fight against  

the Kaiserreich.608 

It took another twenty-three months for the United States to enter the war and 

finally join the Allied blockade of the Central Powers.  During that time, as in 1914, 
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Britain and France encountered a rather steep learning curve in regards to mediating 

inter-departmental conflicts and forging political and economic ties with the neutrals in 

order to best exploit their command of the sea.  The tightening of the Allied blockade 

c.1914-1916 was very much an evolutionary process of learning what legal tactics 

worked and what proved too inflammatory in the eyes of the neutrals and profit-driven 

Allied businesses.  The growth of an efficient civil-military bureaucracy in Britain took 

several campaign seasons to refine.  Real change only occurred once it became clear to 

all parties involved that the policy of business as usual was hampering the Allied war 

effort. 

Chapter 3 explored how mounting criticism of the Asquith administration’s 

“timid” handling of the war effort helped refashion the blockade into a more potent 

weapon of war in 1916-1917.  John Jellicoe thought, for example, that the Foreign Office 

under Edward Grey worried far too much about offending the neutrals when, in fact, they 

should have demanded greater transparency and cooperation from them.  Admiral 

Jellicoe was not the only influential voice of dissent when it came to the strategic 

direction of the naval blockade.609  Robert Cecil also believed that his department needed 

to adopt a firmer stance on indirect trade with Germany via the Northern Neutrals.   

Conservative-leaning publications such as the Daily Mail and The Spectator 

capitalized on the prevailing anti-Grey sentiment by alleging that the blockade now  

“leaked at every seam.”610  In response to the growing criticism, and with the realization  

that his preservationist stance on neutral rights was deeply unpopular with both the 

Conservatives and the Liberals, Grey asked the prime minister on 23 February 1916 to 
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remove him from all matters relating to the trade war with Germany.  Asquith, for his 

part, was quite relieved that Grey voluntarily distanced himself from the day-to-day 

management of the blockade.  In his place, Asquith appointed Lord Robert Cecil to head 

a separate Ministry of the Blockade with the aim to stop unnecessary trade leakages at the 

source.611 

Cecil immediately reversed Grey’s tactic of championing neutral rights through a 

series of new policies that promoted Britain’s right to blockade the Central Powers.  The 

first policy (forcible rationing) insisted on rationing the Northern Neutrals to within an 

“acceptable” prewar level of imports from other countries.  In spite of lost imports and 

widespread resentment throughout Scandinavia, Cecil maintained that was the price they 

paid for neutrality in an increasingly global war.  The second policy (the Statutory List) 

involved compiling a list of international corporations with known ties to German 

businesses and financial institutions and placing them on a blacklist for embassies 

worldwide to monitor.  As a result, neutral and Allied businessmen quickly learned that 

blacklisted firms were far more trouble to deal with than officially permitted ones.   

The final measure that Cecil enacted in the first half of 1916 was the introduction 

of the navicert – a commercial passport issued to U.S. exporters in order to expedite trade 

between compliant American firms and the United Kingdom.  These policies signified a 

tightening of the naval blockade at a time when the hope of a short war had irreparably 

faded.  Allied policymakers such as Théophile Delcassé, Robert Cecil, and the soon-to-be 

British Prime Minister, David Lloyd George, realized that they had to adjust their 

expectations and try new tactics when waging total war.  
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Unbeknownst to the Allies, the tightening of the blockade occurred just as 

Germany experienced an early frost that culminated in the widespread failure of its potato 

crop.  The starchy vegetable was such a staple in the German diet that its absence proved 

troubling for many on the home front.  Although the public grudgingly turned to turnips 

as a substitute of carbohydrates, the lack of variety coupled with news of extraordinary 

casualties on the Western Front (namely, at Verdun and the Somme) made for a very 

weary and embattled home front.  As the “Turnip Winter” of 1916-1917 progressed, 

temperatures plummeted to record lows and government rations were slashed once again 

from 1,985 calories to only 1,000 calories a day – nearly two-thirds less than what the 

British Royal Society recommended the average adult should consume each day.612   

 It was during this particularly brutal winter that Britain’s blockade of Germany 

earned its notorious moniker of a “hunger blockade.”  The German High Command 

(OHL) responded by resurrecting the policy of unrestricted submarine warfare against 

Allied seaborne trade, primarily in the western approaches to Britain, in early February 

1917.613  Yet instead of starving the British into submission, Germany’s gamble 

convinced the United States to abandon its entrenched position of neutrality in favour of 

joining the Allies against the Central Powers.  America’s entry into the First World War 

on 6 April 1917 gave Robert Cecil the opportunity to tighten the naval blockade even 

further.  American cooperation ensured that virtually no goods passed undetected across 

the Atlantic Ocean.  Convincing neutral countries it was in their best moral and political 

interest to suspend trade with Germany was, however, only half of the battle.  The Allies 

also needed to convince the Germans that it was in their best interest to capitulate.   
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Chapter 4 discussed how the British press baron Lord Northcliffe skilfully 

exploited the increasing malaise in Germany over the last year of the war through the 

release of blockade related propaganda.614  In February 1918, Lloyd George personally 

selected Northcliffe to head the Department of Propaganda in Enemy Countries or, 

“Crewe House,” as it was more commonly known in government circles, with the sole 

purpose of convincing the enemy to lay down their arms as quickly as possible.  Lord 

Northcliffe believed that the surest way to end the war from a propaganda standpoint was 

to exploit the omnipresence of the hunger blockade.  Through a series of propaganda 

leaflets distributed by air balloons to enemy soldiers via the “Balloon Post,” Northcliffe 

reminded the German and Austro-Hungarians troops that they were desperately hungry 

and poorly equipped compared to their Allied counterparts.  At its height in late August 

1918, the Balloon Post delivered on average 100,000 pamphlets a day to weary enemy 

troops.615  The success of this propaganda effort lay in the candour of its message.  That 

is to say, Crewe House would not have been as effective had it distributed leaflets based 

on half-truths or fiction.  It was the discontent of the Germany army and populace that 

made it possible for Northcliffe’s propaganda to take hold in 1918.  But if the political 

and propagandistic impact of the blockade shortened the war in any way, its post-

Armistice retention brought the issue of morality to the forefront.  

Much has been written on the cataclysmic impact of war on society in the Second  

World War and it continues to be a topic of great interest for scholars of post-1945 

international relations.  The history of the First World War, however, has been written 
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almost without examination of civilian casualties.  Therefore, the second aim of this 

dissertation in Chapters 5, 6, and 7 was to reveal why the blockade was continued after 

the Armistice and examine how its retention impacted the peace conference or shaped 

postwar opinion.   

From the perspective of the French delegation, Germany could not be trusted to 

honour the ceasefire agreement without the threat of reprisal.  The blockade then was 

meant to serve as a reminder that the physical suffering would end once the Germans 

signed the peace treaty.  The prospect of revenge for the German siege of Paris in the 

winter of 1870-1871, as well as the brutality of the recent conflict, was also a motivating 

factor for some French politicians, including Georges Clemenceau.616   

Although not driven by the same retributive urge as the French, the U.S. and 

Britain were in complete agreement that the naval blockade needed to continue after the 

Armistice.  In a confidential memorandum circulated by the British General Staff, the 

Admiralty, Foreign and War Office made it plain that they believed,  “… with the 

abolition of the Blockade, and especially its machinery, we lose our power of coercion 

over Germany; we run the risk of seeing Germany crumble and become unable to pay 

any indemnity....”617  Intended as a cure-all to the social, political, and economic strife 

facing the Allies at the peace table, the naval blockade was retained solely for political 

reasons.   

But the decision to prolong the blockade was not without controversy and 

disagreement.  Herbert Hoover was in charge of the revictualling of postwar Europe as 

                                                        
616 Georges Clemenceau to the Supreme War Council, 13 January 1919, in Bane and Lutz, 218-

219.  
617 ‘Memorandum Embodying the Views of the General Staff Respecting the Continuance of the 

Blockade, 22 January 1919,’ TNA, T 1/12275. 
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the Allied Food Director and the head of the American Relief Administration (ARA).  

From December 1918 to February 1919, he devised several international aid plans – 

known collectively as the “Hoover Plan” – to allow foodstuffs into Germany to prevent 

further revolutionary upheaval and discontent.  The population of Europe stood at 

approximately 420 million people in late 1918.  Hoover, therefore, understood the great 

urgency with which his agency needed to transport food to Europe in the wake of the 

First World War.  It was his rationale that the Allies ought to lift the crippling economic 

sanctions against the Central Powers in order for their respective governments to 

purchase food.  This action, in turn, would allow Hoover to focus his efforts and that of 

the ARA on feeding the rest of Europe in a timely manner.618   

After witnessing the desperation and extreme hunger first hand, Second Army  

Commander General Herbert Plumer informed the British P.M. that his men were giving 

their rations to the enemy in order to prevent further starvation.  Like Hoover, Plumer 

recommended that the Allied blockade must be lifted at once.  Unlike the Allied Food 

Director, though, his reasoning was based on seeing the level of deprivation on the 

German home front and knowing the moral dilemma that his men faced when hearing 

innocent civilians say that “an end by bullets is preferable to death by starvation.”619  

Plumer’s report to David Lloyd George on 8 March 1919 finally forced the British 

government to see the blockade for what it had become – a regrettable “weapon of 

starvation.” 

Faced with undeniable proof that the continuation of the blockade was 

exacerbating the poor living conditions of Germans on the home front, the Allies 

                                                        
618 See, Willis. 
619 Minutes of the Supreme War Council, 8 March 1919, Bane and Lutz, 214. 
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convened an emergency meeting to discuss the necessity of provisioning the enemy.  On 

13 March 1919, representatives from Britain, France, Italy, the U.S., and Belgium met 

with German diplomats in Brussels to negotiate a payment plan in order to purchase food.  

The Brussels agreement was intended to signify the end of the Allied economic warfare  

in preparation for the coming peace treaty and the reconstruction of Europe after the war.  

Nevertheless, Clemenceau thought it “…useful to remind the Germans that the blockade 

shall cease at the same moment as the state of war [i.e. upon signing the peace treaty and 

not a moment sooner].”620  True to his word, not a single shipment of food reached 

German ports until after 12 July 1919 when the Treaty of Versailles was formally 

ratified.  Meanwhile, nearly 800 German civilians died each day the hunger blockade was 

maintained after the Armistice.621   

This was not what the British Admiralty or Committee of Imperial Defense 

envisioned when implementing the naval blockade at the start of the war.  Nor did the 

blockade’s early inefficacy hint at its latent power and eventual use as a political 

bargaining chip after 11 November 1918.  This transformation occurred over time.  The 

concept of threatening starvation was first proposed in 1917 but quickly dismissed as too 

dangerous.  It ultimately took Northcliffe and the Balloon Post to exploit the rampant 

hunger in Germany by offering an end to wartime suffering.  Perhaps the Paris peace 

settlement could have retained more of its legitimacy had the Allies followed Hoover’s 

advice to Woodrow Wilson: “we should not be led into joining in a food blockade against 

Germany as a method of forcing peace.”622  Hindsight, of course, is 20/20 and the reality 

                                                        
620 Vincent, 115. 
621 ‘Inter-Allied Scientific Food Commission,’ in the Graham Lusk Papers Box 1, f. 1, HIA. 
622 Memorandum from Herbert Hoover to Woodrow Wilson re: Food Blockade of Germany, 14 
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of international relations is that prompt, definitive decision-making often takes 

precedence over cautious and even-handed treatment of the enemy.  

This thesis does not attempt to simply castigate British and Allied policymakers 

for using food as a weapon against Germany.  Rather, by highlighting the politics, 

propaganda, and morality of the naval blockade, it underscores the nuances and political 

considerations behind their Realpolitik decision.  There is no direct line from the First 

World War to the Second World War.  It is therefore counterproductive to imply as 

Patrick Buchanan does that Britain’s blockade irreparably damaged relations with 

Germany and directly caused the rise of National Socialism.623  It is regrettable that a 

traditional weapon of war was used to garner political victory in 1918-1919.  But one 

should be mindful, as Vincent notes in The Politics of Hunger, not to “manipulate such 

findings and thereby speculate that the critically undernourished generation of children 

from World War I logically grew up to become the loyal Schutzstaffeln of the 1930s.”624   

Thus Chapter 7 traced the postwar legacy of the blockade in order to glean how 

the rampant hunger and political instability in Germany was regarded in postwar Britain, 

America, and Germany itself.  The issue of morality figured quite prominently in the 

Allies’ decision to finally lift the post-Armistice blockade.  It also conditioned the 

postwar relief efforts of Hoover’s American Relief Administration and social activists in 

Britain to feed the starving mouths of Europe – be they German or otherwise.  This issue 

of humanitarian food relief has yet to be examined by other historians of the naval 

blockade.  Yet the charitable work of activists like Eglantyne Jebb and the Fight the 

Famine Council, which evolved into the internationally recognized Save The Children 
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organization, offered valuable insights into the prevailing March 1919 opinion that it was 

needless and immoral to use food as a weapon.625   

 The humanitarian relief work of Anglo-American organizations like the SCF and 

the ARA suggests that many people in Allied countries were compelled to donate money 

and/or their time to help feed children of the enemy.  Yet famine relief was offered too 

late to erase the memories of the brutal Turnip Winter and endemic hunger that persisted 

throughout the remainder of the blockade’s existence.  

In 1992, celebrated Weimar historian Detlev Peukert identified a generational link 

between one’s age (i.e. Germans born at or just after the turn of the twentieth century) 

and an affiliation with paramilitary groups and high-ranking placement within the Nazi 

Party.  These “superfluous” youths, as Peukert termed them, were too young to 

participate in the First World War yet were old enough to remember the social and 

political upheaval on the home front.  These young men witnessed their country’s defeat 

at the hands of the Allies and became increasingly disaffected after the war.626   

While there was nothing inevitable about the rise of Adolf Hitler and his 

murderous Weltanschauung in the course of Germany history, the Nazi quest for living 

space in the East was influenced, in part, by a conscious decision to avoid a repeat of 

1914-1918.  In contrast to the First World War, German military planners did not want to 

engage in a two-front war with Britain, France, and the United States on the one hand and 

the Soviet Union on the other.627  But it was the potential for exploiting Russia’s vast 

                                                        
625 Lord Parmoor, The Policy and the Work of the Fight the Famine Council.  See also, Francesca 
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626 Peukert, 279-280; Donson, esp. Chapters 7 and 10. 
627 For an in-depth look at Nazi-Soviet relations in the lead-up to the invasion of the U.S.S.R. see, 
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resources that shaped the Nazis’ approach to food policy and their overall eastern strategy 

in the lead-up to the war with Russia.  In fact, the Reich Minister for Food and 

Agriculture, Herbert Backe, developed a ruthless “Hunger Plan” in early 1941, which 

called for the division of the Soviet Union into two zones based on their potential for 

economic exploitation.  The Ukraine and southern Russia were ultimately identified as 

prime land for the German army to violently confiscate grain and other vital resources.628 

 Only recently have historians of the Second World War started to analyze the 

conflict through the lens of food and agrarian politics.  Fine works like Lizzie 

Collingham’s The Taste of War: World War Two and the Battle for Food (2011) and 

Gesine Gerhard’s two articles on Germany’s aggressive bid for autarky in the 1930s and 

early 1940s highlight some of the broader implications of the Allied decision to maintain 

a naval blockade of Germany throughout 1914-1919.  Research, of course, is still needed 

to discover if the legacy of the hunger blockade influenced more contemporary historical 

events.  Did the origins of the Marshall Plan (1948-1952), for instance, stem from an 

Allied desire to right the wrongs of the Armistice and the Paris peace settlement?  What 

role did the blockade play in George C. Marshall’s decision to extend aid to former 

enemy countries following the Second World War?  Did the U.S. Secretary of State learn 

directly from Herbert Hoover’s experience that “famine is the mother of anarchy” and, 

thus, prioritize food relief as a result?  Only time and further enquiry will tell.  Although 

a century has elapsed since Britain first implemented the naval blockade of Germany, 

these questions and others still remain.  

                                                                                                                                                                     
Weinberg, Germany and the Soviet Union, 1939-1941 (Leiden: E. J. Brill, 1954); Anthony Read and David 
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